A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORError! Bookmark not defined .. 

1. Mr. Dunya was denied his right to a fair trial by jury when 

the prosecution ordered the consumption of a minute sample of DNA 

for the purpose of barring Mr. Dunya from observing or verifying the 

test. 

2. The court erred by finding no bad faith when the prosecution 

ordered consumption of critical evidence contrary to its policy and 

practice. 

3. The opinion testimony offered by police witnesses about the 

nature of images shown on a videotape invaded the province of the jury 

and denied Mr. Dunya a fair trial. 

4. The videotaped reenactment of events by police officers was

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. Fairness in the fact-finding process requires the prosecution 

to preserve evidence that appears to have exculpatory value. The 



prosecution ordered the State Patrol Crime Lab to consume the only 

DNA obtained from the crime scene, knowing consumption would 

prevent any independent testing or verification. The prosecution issued 

this order even though the defense had requested advance notice of 

such testing and in violation of its own practice as well as the standard 

operating procedure of the State Patrol Crime Lab. Did the prosecution 

direct the consumption of DNA evidence in bad faith and undermine 

the fairness of the fact-finding process? 

2. Unreliable evidence reenacting events, unnecessary opinions 

from police officers about the identity of the perpetrator, and improper 

assertions about the race of the suspect deny an accused person a fair 

trial if they are likely to affect the outcome of the case. Here, police 

officers gave their opinions on the identifying characteristics, including 

race, of the perpetrator, over objection and even though they had no 

firsthand knowledge of the suspect. Several police officers also wore a 

jacket like the suspect wore and mimicked his movements. Did the 

opinion testimony and reenactment evidence sway the jury on an 

improper basis? 

3. The court lacks authority to impose a firearm enhancement 

when the jury has found only that the accused person possessed a 
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deadly weapon, The court instructed the jury to detennine, by special 

verdict, whether Mr. Dunya possessed "a deadly weapon" based on the 

definition of a deadly weapon, but imposed two fireann sentencing 

enhancements. Did the court violate Mr. Dunya's right to a fair trial by 

jury when it imposed a punishment that the jury's verdict did not 

authorize? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

On July 5, 2011, a co-worker found Kristen Dunya inside her 

apartment. 5/23/12RP 46-47, 51. I She had been shot one time in the 

chest and likely died quickly from the wound. 5/23/12RP at146-47. 

Police Detective Les Gitts collected a yellow latex glove that was close 

to Ms. Dunya. 5/23/12RP 68. He did not find a gun, spent bullets, or 

any fingerprints of value inside the apartment. 5/23/12RP 78. 

Two days later, Kara Buchanan called the police and said she 

shot Ms. Dunya. 5/23/12RP 85; 5/29/12RP 202. Ms. Dunya was in the 

process of divorcing Keayn Dunya, who was now Ms. Buchanan's 

boyfriend. 5/30/12RP 250-51, 400, 402. Ms. Buchanan told the police 

details of the shooting that had not been released publicly and only the 
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investigators knew. 5/23/12RP 85. She also said she was committing 

suicide. Id. Police officers found her on the beach, bleeding heavily 

from cuts on both her wrists. 5/23/12RP 87. She had a pill container for 

acetaminophen hydrocodone, which was the same type of pill found at 

the crime scene. 5/23/12RP 90. After her wounds were treated at the 

hospital, Ms. Buchanan was charged with first degree murder. CP 1; 

5/30/12RP 356. 

The police also charged Mr. Dunya with first degree murder. CP 

1. They obtained video images from surveillance cameras near Ms. 

Dunya's apartment. 5/23/12RP 158, 165. The cameras showed a person 

wearing a hooded jacket with stripes on the sleeves, carrying a long 

object, going in and out of Ms. Dunya's apartment in the early morning 

of July 3,2011. 5/23/12RP 168, 171. A similar jacket was found in Ms. 

Buchanan's car. 5/23/12RP 105-06; 5/29/12RP 57-58. The jacket was 

size extra-large and belonged to Ms. Dunya. 5/23/12RP 106; 5/30/12RP 

266. Ms. Buchanan was about 5'3" tall and heavy, while Mr. Dunya 

was about 5'10" tall. 5/29/12RP 67-68; 5/30/12RP 267. The cameras 

showed a car similar to one Ms. Buchanan owned parked near Ms. 

I The verbatim report of proceedings are referred to by date of the court 
hearing.There are two volumes from 5/21112, after the court reporter corrected 
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Dunya's apartment and this person in the hooded jacket was the only 

person in the car. 5/23/12RP 103. 

After Mr. Dunya and Ms. Buchanan were arrested, both filed 

written requests that the prosecution provide notice prior to any testing 

or destruction of evidence. Supp. CP _, sub. no. 9; Whatcom Co. No. 

11-1-00803-0 (Supp. CP _, sub. no. 5A). Ms. Buchanan's request was 

filed July 12,2011, and Mr. Dunya's similarly worded request was filed 

July 14,2011. 

In a telephone call on July 28, 2011, and an email sent on 

August 1, 2011, forensic scientist Mariah Low from the Washington 

State Patrol Crime Laboratory informed the lead detective in the case 

that she had obtained a minute sample of biological matter from the 

latex glove found near Ms. Dunya's body. 5/29/12RP 165. She believed 

she could extract a DNA profile from the material but because the 

sample was so small, her test would consume the sample. CP 105. She 

asked for permission to consume the available DNA. 5/29/12RP 165; 

CP 105. Prosecutor David McEachran sent a written response dated 

September 7, 2011, authorizing Ms. Low to consume the DNA 

material. CP 106. 

and replaced the original volume. The pertinent volume is noted in the citation. 
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But the prosecutor did not inform the defense of Ms. Low's 

letter or that he had authorized the consumption of the DNA. CP 103. 

Mr. Dunya did not learn that the DNA test had been performed until 

after the evidence was destroyed. Id. Contrary to proper protocol, Ms. 

Low tested both the glove and a known sample of Mr. Dunya's DNA, 

which had been stored in the same evidence bag as the glove. 

5/29112RP 155,169; 6/4112RP 472, 478-79. Ms. Low concluded that 

the glove contained a mixed sample of DNA from at least two people 

and Mr. Dunya's DNA profile matched the profile of the major 

contributor to this sample. 5/29112RP 146. 

Mr. Dunya brought a motion to suppress the DNA evidence 

based on the prosecution's purposeful consumption of the DNA 

evidence despite defense requests for notice about any such testing. CP 

102-34. An expert in DNA explained the importance of independent 

observation and testing of DNA. CP 107-12. The court denied the 

motion to suppress. 5/21112(vol. I)RP 76-77. 

The prosecution arranged a plea bargain with Ms. Buchanan in 

exchange for her testimony against Mr. Dunya. She pled guilty to 

rendering criminal assistance in the first degree. 5/30112RP 247. 

Contrary to her confession to police, Ms. Buchanan denied being 
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involved in causing Ms. Dunya's death. 5/30112RP 249. She said Mr. 

Dunya and his son Kai spent the July 4th holiday weekend at her home 

on Whidbey Island. 5/30112RP 257. She woke up early on Sunday, July 

3rd, and noticed Mr. Dunya was not in bed but his cell phone was on the 

nightstand. 5/30112RP 261. She read the text messages on his phone, 

some from other women, and thought he was seeing someone else. 

5/30112RP 261, 264. When he returned, he did laundry, including a red 

jacket, and had a plastic bucket with him that he took to a bum pile 

outside. 5/30112RP 266, 270. The rest of the day was "perfect," playing 

croquet and watching fireworks. 5/30112RP 274. When a police officer 

called her on July 5th, she told him that Mr. Dunya had spent the 

weekend with her, without mentioning that he may have left in the 

middle of the night.5/30112RP RP 286, 296-97. 

Ms. Buchanan said that she confessed to killing Ms. Dunya 

because she was upset over the idea that he was having an affair and did 

not want Mr. Dunya's son Kai to lose his father. 5/30112RP 290, 294. 

She felt she "had let Keayn down." 5/30112RP 349. When she realized 

their relationship was "beyond repair" she "did the only thing I could, I 

set the stage to take the blame" for causing Ms. Dunya' s death. 

5/30112RP 349-50. She sent text messages to Mr. Dunya, saying she 
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was sorry, and to her family, saying she did not want to put them 

through a trial. 5/30!12RP 350-51. 

Mr. Dunya was convicted of first degree murder while armed 

with a deadly weapon. CP 37; 38. He received a standard range 

sentence and a firearm sentencing enhancement. CP 6-7. 

Relevant facts are discussed in further detail in the pertinent 

argument sections below. 

D. ARGUMENT. 

1. The State's deliberate consumption of the only 
DNA evidence from the crime scene without notice 
to Mr. Dunya, despite Mr. Dunya's request to be 
notified, denied him a fair trial. 

a. The prosecution may not secretively endorse the 
destruction of significant evidence during pretrial 
proceedings. 

The integrity of the fact-finding process is at the heart of the 

right to a fair trial. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S . 284,294,93 S. 

Ct. 1038, 1045,35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 

612,620,41 P.3d 1189 (2002); U.S. Const. amends. 6,14; Const. art. I, 

§§ 3, 21, 22. Courts zealously guard against evidentiary restrictions or 

governmental actions that call into question the fairness of the 

accused's ability to defend against the State's charges. Darden, 145 
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Wn.2d at 620; see State v. Bartholomew, 101 Wn.2d 631,640,683 P.3d 

(1984) ("We deem particularly offensive to the concept offaimess a 

proceeding in which evidence is allowed which lacks reliability"). 

Accused persons have "constitutionally guaranteed access to 

evidence" based on the right to fairly defend oneself. California v. 

Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485,104 S.Ct. 2538, 73 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). 

If evidence is material and exculpatory, the constitution requires the 

prosecution to disclose it to the defense even if the defense did not 

request it and the prosecutor assigned to the case did not know about it. 

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 

(1963). If evidence is material and potentially useful, but not inherently 

exculpatory, the prosecutor may not hide it or order its destruction in 

bad faith. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57-58,109 S.Ct. 333, 

102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988). 

Evidence that "might be expected to playa significant role in the 

suspect's defense" must be preserved because such evidence has 

evidentiary value that is apparent before its destruction and the defense 

cannot obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available 

means. Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 488-89. Trombetta involved two cases 

where men arrested for drunken driving complained that the police had 
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not sua sponte preserved their post-arrest breath samples that were used 

to measure whether they were under the influence of alcohol. Id. at 482. 

The police, "acting in accord with their normal practice," had destroyed 

the breath samples after testing them. Id. at 488. The defendants 

claimed that the state's failure to preserve their breath samples violated 

their due process right to challenge the prosecution's evidence. Id. at 

483. 

The Trombetta Court found that the prosecution's duty to 

preserve evidence from destruction applies to "evidence that might be 

expected to playa significant role in the suspect's defense." Id. at 488. 

The breath samples at issue in Trombetta did not meet this threshold. 

The court reasoned that "the chances are extremely low that 

preserved samples would have been exculpatory"; and the mechanism 

for testing these samples had a high degree of accuracy. Id. at 489. A 

malfunction in the machine used would be apparent and could be 

assessed by the defense at a later date. Id. Because the defense retained 

the ability to challenge the state's evidence, the due process clause did 

not mandate a sweeping rule requiring preservation of potentially useful 

evidence gathered by the state. Id. Unlike the breath test in Trombetta, 

DNA evidence "might be expected to playa significant role in the 
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suspect's defense," and comparable evidence cannot be reasonably 

obtained once a sample is consumed. See Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 488-

89. 

When the prosecution has an affinnative duty to preserve 

evidence, it may not encourage its destruction. Freeman v. State, 121 

So.3d 888, 895, reh 'g denied (Miss. 2013). In Freeman, the court 

ordered the prosecution to preserve a videotape of a police officer 

arresting a DUI suspect but it was destroyed. Id. Unlike Trombetta, 

where the defendants had not filed motions to preserve the evidence in 

advance of trial, Mr. Freeman specifically requested the preservation of 

evidence prior to its destruction. Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 482,488; 

Freeman, 121 So.3d at 895. Based on Mr. Freeman's request and the 

court's order, the evidence's preservation was not subject to guesswork 

and did not place unreasonable discovery demands on the prosecution, 

particularly when it was relatively easy to preserve the evidence. Id. at 

896. Because the prosecution "inconceivably ignore[d]" a discovery 

request and its affinnative duty to preserve evidence, its conduct 

violated due process. Id. at 896. 

Due process also requires that trial proceedings must not only be 

fair, they must "appear fair to all who observe them." Wheat v. United 

11 



States, 486 U.S. 153, 160, 108 S.Ct. 1692,100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988). A 

prosecutor's role is not to win a case, but to see that justice is done. 

Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S.Ct. 629, 633, 79 L.Ed. 

l314 (1935). Misconduct by the state violates the "fundamental fairness 

essential to the very concept of justice." Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 

416 U.S. 637,642,94 S.Ct. 1868,40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974). "Society 

wins not only when the guilty are convicted but when criminal trials are 

fair; our system of the administration of justice suffers when any 

accused is treated unfairly." Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. 

In the case at bar, the prosecution authorized the consumption of 

a minute sample of DNA evidence taken from the crime scene despite 

Mr. Dunya' s written request for notice before any such evidence or 

potential evidence was tested, released or destroyed by the State. CP 

106; Supp. CP _; sub. no. 9.2 The state had obtained 0.102 nanograms 

of material containing DNA from a glove at the crime scene. 5/29/12RP 

181. One nanogram is 0.0000000001 gram, or one-billionth of one 

2 Kara Buchanan, who was charged along with Mr. Dunya as his co
defendant throughout the pretrial stages of the case, filed an identical request 
two days before Mr. Dunya's discovery demand. Whatcom Co. No. 11-1-00803-
o (Supp. CP _, sub. no. 5A, filed July 12, 2011). 

12 
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gram.3 Due to the prosecutor's authorization of consumption, the 

forensic scientist used the entirety of the sample in her testing and no 

independent verification was possible. 

Unlike Trombetta, Mr. Dunya timely requested preservation and 

notice before the evidence was tested but this advance request was 

ignored by the prosecution. Due to the nature of the evidence and the 

stage of proceedings at which the State disregarded Mr. Dunya's 

request to be notified of the testing, the State's actions undermine the 

fundamental fairness at the core of the right to due process of law. 

b. Consuming DNA without permitting the defense the 
opportunity to observe the DNA test is contrary to 
established practice 

DNA evidence carries a perception of infallibility among jurors 

or judges but "the accuracy of the test results are largely dependent on 

the methods used by the analyst." W. Thompson, et aI, "Forensic DNA 

Statistics: Still Controversial in Some Cases," The Champion, at 22 

(Dec. 2012); Brief of Innocence Network as Amicus Curiae, Williams 

v. Illinois, U.S. Supreme Court No. 10-8505, at 6 (filed Sept. 7,2011).4 

3 See Wikianswers, available at: 
http://wiki.answers.comlQ/How _much_is _ a_nanogram (last viewed Nov. 21, 
2013), 

4 Available at: 
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Unvalidated or improper forensic science is a leading cause of 

wrongful convictions. Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 

319, 129 S. Ct. 2527,2537, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009); see Innocence 

Project, Forensic Oversight, available at: 

http://www . innocenceproj ect.org/fix/Crime-Lab-Oversight. php (last 

viewed Nov. 14, 20l3). 

The America Bar Associations Standards for Criminal Justice: 

DNA Evidence, 3d ed. (2007) dictate that a laboratory should not 

consume DNA evidence without prior approval of the prosecution and 

the defense if a person has been charged, particularly when the testing 

will consume the DNA evidence. ABA Standard 3.4(b), (c). ABA 

Standard 3.4(c) states: 

Before approving a test that entirely consumes DNA 
evidence or the extract from it, the prosecutor should 
provide any defendant against whom an accusatorial 
instrument has been filed, or any suspect who has 
requested prior notice, an opportunity to object and more 
for an appropriate court order. 

The Washington State Patrol Crime Lab's written protocol and standard 

operating procedure adheres to the ABA Standards and requires 

http://www .americanbar.org/content/damlaba/publishing/previewbriefs /Other _ Br 
ieC Updatesll 0-8505 yetitioneramcuinnocencenetw .authcheckdam. pdf (last 
viewed Nov. 21, 2013). 
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pennission from the pertinent law enforcement authority prior to DNA 

testing that will consume more than half ofthe biological sample. 

5/29/12RP 161. The State Patrol Crime Lab's protocol is predicated on 

the understanding that the prosecution will notify the defense. Id. at 

160-61. 

Consumption that precludes corroboration of test results is 

significant because there are many steps in DNA analysis and "errors 

can occur during each stage." Brief of Innocence Network at 7 (citing 

numerous examples of "simple human errors"). The reliability of DNA 

evidence is "subject to the problems of human error and misconduct." 

Id. at 13. DNA must be extracted from a biological sample and this 

process is "more susceptible to contamination in the laboratory than at 

any other time in the forensic DNA analysis process." Dist. Attorney's 

Office/or Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 82, 129 S. Ct. 

2308, 174 L. Ed. 2d 38 (2009) (Alito, 1., concurring, quoting 1. Butler, 

Forensic DNA Typing 42 (2d ed. 2005)). Because DNA testing 

technology "is sensitive enough to pick up such trace amounts of 

DNA," it is also affected by "even the slightest, unintentional 

mishandling of evidence." Id. at 82. 

15 



Once DNA is extracted, the analyst must "measure the amount 

of DNA in the sample accurately" which is "essential" because later 

stages of DNA analysis require a specific concentration of DNA. Brief 

of Innocence Network at 17 (citing John Butler, Fundamentals of 

Forensic DNA Typing (Academic Press 2010)). Too much or too little 

DNA used in the test can result in an inaccurate profile. Id. at 17-18. 

Generating DNA profiles requires amplifying the extracted 

alleles, which is a "challenging" process. Id. at 19. Amplification 

requires the analyst to add chemicals to water in a "proper volume and 

concentration," "precisely set" the temperature in the thermal cycler 

machine, and pay close attention to the number of cycles run. Id. at 18-

19. This process "is very sensitive to small amounts of DNA, [and] 

even minute contamination can skew the results." Id. at 19. 

Additional potential for error occurs in separating the DNA and 

detecting the alleles. Id. at 20. If multiple samples are tested, cross

sample contamination may occur and some types of tests are more 

susceptible to contamination. Id. at 20-21. Interpreting the data, 

particularly in a mixed sample of two or more individuals depends on 

subjective judgment. Id. at 22-23; see also Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 

16 



320 (forensic analysis includes methodology that "requires the exercise 

of judgment and presents a risk of error"). 

When the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory detected 

"very low" quantity of DNA on a glove taken from the apartment where 

the shooting occurred, the sample was so small that it could not test for 

a DNA profile without consuming it. 5/29/12RP 181. Once consumed, 

no one else would be able to conduct any confirmatory testing. Id. at 

162. Although a DNA expert could review the notes she took, Ms. Low 

did not believe her notes were a substitute for independent testing or 

contemporaneous observation. Id. at 162, 190-91. The prosecution had 

ample opportunity to notify the defense and it knew the defense 

requested advance notice of such testing. Indeed, the prosecutor 

admitted his usual practice would be to notify the defense or ask for a 

court order approving the testing. CP 75. Yet the prosecution did not 

follow its own protocol before authorizing the consumptive testing and 

it offered no explanation for this failure. 

c. Independent review of DNA testing is common practice 
yielding important results. 

DNA expert Donald Riley condemned the State's secretive 

consumption of the sole DNA evidence as a "serious breach of the 

17 



scientific method which requires independent verification." CP 126; see

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