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

D. ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court appropriately denied Dunya's 
motion to suppress DNA test results because the 
state did not violate its discovery obligations, 
destroy material exculpatory evidence or act in 
bad faith when it authorized consumption of 
evidence for DNA testing purposes. 

Dunya argues the trial court erred denying his request to 

suppress the admission of DNA test results at trial. 

Specifically, he argues suppression was warranted because the 

state authorized consumption of a DNA specimen extracted 

from the tip of a piece of rubber glove found at the crime scene 

without notice to Dunya. Dunya contends the state's 

consumption authorization "for the purpose of barring" Dunya 

from observing or verifying state DNA testing in light of his 

request for notice contained in his Notice of Appearance and 

Demand for Discovery denied him due process of law l and is 

1 Dunya asserted below that his due process claim was predicated on a discovery 
violation. CP 124-132,.The state however, did not have a binding discovery agreement 
with Dunya at the time consumption for DNA testing was authorized. Discovery rule CrR 
4.7 requires the prosecutor disclose information including reports or statements of 
experts, including the results of scientific tests, experiments and comparisons and 
disclose any expert witnesses whom the prosecuting attorney will call.. .. , the subject of 
such expert testimony and any reports the experts have submitted to the prosecutor. See, 
CrR(a)(J )(iv), (2)(iii). CrR 4.7 does not however, require prior notice to the defense of 
scientific testing-even where such a request is made. Instead, CrR 4.7 broadly specifies 
that investigations are not to be impeded and only that the State is required to provide 
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akin to the state improperly destroying exculpatory evidence in 

bad faith. Bf. of App. at 1. 

If evidence is material and or potentially useful Dunya 

argues, a prosecutor may not hide or order its destruction in 

bad faith. Bf. of App. at 9 citing Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 

u.s. 51,57-58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.281 (1988). Nothing 

in the record below evidences the state sought to hide or 

destroy material evidence in bad faith by authorizing relevant 

DNA testing. Dunya's allegations are unfounded and should be 

rejected. 

a. DNA found in the tips of rubber gloves 
found at the murder scene had no apparent 
material eXCUlpatory value and while 
testing consumed the evidence, the 
consumption provided a test result 
discoverable and reviewable by the defense. 

The state's duty to preserve material evidence is derived from 

the duty to disclose exculpatory evidence. Brady v. Maryland, 

373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed. 215 (1963). A 

defendant's constitutional due process rights are violated and a 

criminal case may be dismissed when the state fails to preserve 

results of scientific tests and reports prepared by experts. erR 4.7 (a)(J )(iv), (2)(iii) 
(1 )(h)(J). This being said, the state typically will notify counsel prior to testing when a 
suspect has already been charged. 
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material exculpatory evidence. State v. Wittenbarger, 124 

Wn.2d 467, 475,880 P.2d 517 (1994) (citing California v. 

Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479,104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.413 (1984), 

and Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51. 

Whether destruction of evidence constitutes a due process 

violation depends on the motivation of law enforcement in 

destroying the evidence and the nature of the evidence. State v. 

Groth, 163 Wn.App. 548,261 P.3d 183 (2011) citing, 

Wittenbarger, 124 Wash. 2d, 475(citing, California v. 

Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 

(1984) and Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51. Failure to preserve 

materially exculpatory evidence can result in a due process 

violation. Id. In order for evidence to qualify as "material 

exculpatory evidence" however, the following two part test 

must be satisfied: 

[The] evidence must be both possess an exculpatory 
value that was apparent before the evidence was 
destroyed, and be of such a nature that the 
defendant would be unable to obtain comparable 
evidence by other reasonably available means. 

Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 489. 

Dunya cannot demonstrate the evidence he contends was 

impermissibly destroyed by DNA testing possessed an 
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exculpatory value that was apparent before DNA testing was 

performed. What was apparent before testing if anything, was 

that the DNA evidence found was potentially incriminating to 

the person who committed Kriston's murder. No value could 

otherwise be ascribed to the evidence until or unless it was 

tested. Groth, 163 Wash. App. 548(Groth's assertion that 

physical evidence collected at the scene was materially 

exculpatory was speculative because none of the evidence had 

apparent exculpatory value without testing or analysis.) See 

also, State v. Copeland, 130 Wash. 2d 244, 922 P.2d 1304 

(1996), (no due process violation where the State crime lab 

discarded remaining DNA evidence after the DNA was 

scientifically tested). 

The DNA evidence found in the glove tips were not of 

exculpatory value pursuant to the standard set forth in 

Youngblood. Moreover, even though the DNA testing 

consumed evidence found on the gloves, Dunya still retained 

an ability to challenge testing procedures and the weight to be 

given to the DNA results based on the 100 pages of written and 

typed notes forensic scientist Mariah Low provided regarding 

the testing conditions, procedure and protocol followed during 
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DNA testing. In other words , the consumption by testing did 

not destroy evidence but provided other evidence that Dunya 

could and did analyze and use to attack the credibility and 

reliability of the test results, including the fact that Dunya was 

not given the opportunity to observe or confirm the DNA 

testing himself. Based on that and the testimony of Dunya' s 

expert Dr.Riley, Dunya argued to the jury that no weight 

should be given to the DNA test results because protocol of 

notifying the defense was not met, the defense couldn't observe 

testing first hand and the methods explained in the notes 

reflected ample opportunity for a false positive result due to 

contamination. 

Under these circumstances, Dunya cannot show the state's 

authorization to consume evidence by testing deprived him of 

materially exculpatory evidence or that he did not have 

comparable evidence of the testing itself after the DNA sample 

was consumed. 

b. Dunyafails to show the consumption of 
evidence for DNA testing was authorized in 
badfaith where the error was an oversight 
and the evidence was potentially 
inculpatory not exculpatory. 

If the evidence in question would have been 'potentially 
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useful', though not materially exculpatory, a defendant must 

demonstrate bad faith on the part of law enforcement in failing to 

preserve evidence to support a constitutional due process violation. 

Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58, State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 

280, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). Potentially useful evidence is 

"evidentiary material of which no more can be said than it could 

have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have 

exonerated the defendant." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 57, State v. 

Groth, 163 Wn.App. 548, 261 P3d 183 (2011). 

As explained in Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58, 

even if destroyed evidence is potentially useful, a defendant must 

still also demonstrate the state acted in bad faith in destroying 

potentially useful evidence to support a due process claim. 

We think that requiring a defendant to show bad faith on 
the part of the police both limits the extent of the police's 
obligation to preserve evidence to reasonable bounds and 
confines it to that class of cases where the interests of just 
most clearly require it, i.e., those cases in which the police 
themselves by their conduct indicate that the evidence 
could form a basis for exonerating the defendant. We· 
therefore hold that unless a defendant can show bad faith 
on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially 
useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process. 

Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58. 

In Youngblood, the state negligently failed to preserve 
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fresh semen samples collected from the victim and the victim's 

clothing. Notwithstanding that failure, the court determined 

that unless the defendant could demonstrate bad faith on the 

part of law enforcement, failure to preserve the potentially 

useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of 

law. 

Bad faith examines the motivation of law enforcement in 

destroying the evidence. Groth, 163 Wn.App. 548. In other 

words, was the destruction "improperly motivated." 

Wittenbarger, 124 Wash. 2d, 478; see also, Guzman v. State, 

868 So.2d 498,509 (Fla. 2004) (holding a "determination of 

bad faith does not turn on whether law enforcement officers 

followed established procedures," and that "bad faith exists 

only when law enforcement officers intentionally destroy 

evidence they believe would exonerate a defendant." Citing, 

Youngblood), State v. Patterson, 356 Md. 677,698, 741 A.2d 

1119 (1999) ("the intent or motive behind the destruction of the 

potential evidence is generally a determinative factor" in 

deciding whether bad faith exists). 

Looking at the language of Youngblood, a finding of bad 

faith requires Dunya to demonstrate the evidence was 
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destroyed, or in this case, consumption was authorized with 

intent to deprive the defendant of the ability to prepare a 

defense. See, e.g., Guzman, 868 So. 2d, 509(the Court held a 

"determination of bad faith does not tum on whether law 

enforcement officers followed established procedures" and that 

"bad faith only exists when law enforcement officers 

intentionally destroy evidence they believe would exonerate 

defendant," citing Youngblood.) See also, State v. Groth, 163 

Wn.App. 548, where this court rejected the analysis suggested 

by Dunya that the state's failure to follow established protocol 

or suggested guidelines demonstrates bad faith. 

In his concurring opinion in Youngblood, Justice Stevens 

noted that the destroyed evidence in that case was more likely 

to have been inculpatory than exculpatory and the destruction 

of such evidence more damaging to the state's case than 

defense. Id at 59. Under those circumstances, "the uncertainty 

as to what the evidence might have proved was turned to the 

defendant's advantage." Id at 60. Accordingly, the court 

reflected the state had a strong incentive to preserve the 

evidence and inferentially was not motivated to destroy such 

evidence. Id at 59. 
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Similarly here, the state had every incentive to ensure 

established lab protocol and office policy of notifying the 

defense or obtaining a court order was followed. The 

prosecutor's oversight was turned to Dunya's advantage-Dunya 

extensively cross examined forensic scientist Mariah Low on 

lab protocol, attacked the reliability of DNA testing by 

presenting expert witness Dr.Riley's who testified his inability 

to be present for testing and confirm that no cross 

contamination could have occurred during testing, coupled 

with written procedures that reflected contamination could 

have occurred, rendered the DNA results unreliable. These 

facts demonstrate the state had no incentive to authorize 

consumption without notifying Dunya or obtaining a court 

order and subject the testing evidence to such a rigorous 

challenge. 

Moreover, the record reflects the prosecutor authorized 

consumption in an oversight and not with the intent of 

depriving Dunya of meaningful evidence. Instead, the 

prosecutor explained he inadvertently made the authorization 

focusing on law enforcements efforts to obtain relevant 

evidence to further determine whether Dunya or Kara 
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Buchanan shot Kriston. See, CP 66-77 (Declaration of 

Prosecuting Attorney David McEachran). 

Given these facts, the trial court reasonably determined the 

state did not authorize consumption for DNA testing in bad 

faith pursuant to the standards set forth in Youngblood and 

appropriately denied Dunya's motion to suppress the results of 

the DNA testing on the rubber glove tips. The trial court's 

remedy of denying Dunya's request for suppression but 

entering a stipulation into evidence explaining the prosecutor's 

failure to notify Dunya prior to authorizing consumption and 

permitting extensive cross examination, direct testimony from 

the defense witness and argument by Dunya sufficiently 

addressed any due process concerns raised. Suppression was 

not warranted. The trial court decision should therefore be 

affirmed on appeal. 

2. The trial court exercised sound discretion in 
admitting expert testimony of forensic analyst 
officer Schwallie regarding relative skin tone and 
height of a suspect found on infrared video 
surveillance because his testimony was helpful to 
the trier of fact in viewing and understanding 
admitted infrared video surveillance of a suspect. 

Dunya argues the prosecution used unfair tactics to obtain his 

conviction by having investigators impermissibly opine on the identity of 
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the suspect in video surveillance thereby invading the province of the jury. 

Br. of App. at 25 . The record reflects investigators did not impermissibly 

opine that Dunya was the suspect observed in the video. The trial court, in 

its sound discretion instead appropriately limited testimony and only 

permitted testimony regarding skin tone and relative height of the suspect 

observed in infrared video surveillance to the extent it was relevant and 

helpful to the jury. Under these circumstances, Dunya fails to demonstrate 

the trial court abused its considerable discretion. 

A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for abuse of 

discretion. Statev. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). A 

trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or 

based on untenable grounds or reasons. Id at 181. Even if evidence is 

erroneously admitted, reversal is not warranted 'unless, within reasonable 

probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected 

had the error not occurred. ' State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591 , 599, 637 P.2d 

961 (1981). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion only if it 

concluded no reasonable person would have ruled as the trial judge did. 

State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). 

A witness may testify based on personal knowledge and give 

opinion testimony if is rationally based on the perception of the witness 
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and such testimony helpful to understanding testimony or a fact at issue. 

ER 701.2 Additionally, Under ER 702, 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist 
the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in 
issue, a witness qualified as an expert my knowledge, skill, 
experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form 
of an opinion or otherwise. 

ER 702. Improper opinion testimony is testimony that is based on a 

witness's belief rather than direct knowledge of facts. State v. Saunders, 

120 Wash. App. 800, 811, 86 P.3d 232 (2004). A witness may not testify 

as to their opinion regarding the defendant's credibility because that 

determination falls exclusively within the province of the jury. State v. 

Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). "Testimony 

regarding a defendant's statements and demeanor is not opinion and thus 

is admissible ifrelevant." State v. Day, 51 Wn. App. 54, 552, 754 P.2d 

1021, rev. den., 111 Wn.2d 1016 (1988). 

In determining whether testimony constitutes impermissible 

opinion testimony, courts generally consider five factors: 1) the type of 

witness involved; 2) specific nature of testimony; 3) nature of the charges; 

2 ER 701 provides: If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witnesses testimony in 
the form of opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the 
witness, (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the witnesses testimony or the 
determination of a fact in issue, and (c) not based on scienti fic, technical, or other 
specialized knowledge within the scope ofER 702. 
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4) type of defense; and 5) other evidence before the jury. Demery, 144 

Wn.2d at 759. "[T]estimony that is not a direct comment on the 

defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the 

jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion 

testimony." Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 578, 854 P.2d 658 

(1993), rev. den., 123 Wn.2d 1011 (1994). 

Prior to trial Dunya pursuant to a motion in limine, to exclude 

officer's from opining that the suspect observed in video surveillance was 

Dunya or that the suspect appeared to be African American. CP 78-79. 

The parties agreed identification of the video surveillance suspect as 

Dunya based on the officer's perception of the video surveillance would

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